1979

Western Land Equities, Inc. et al v. City of Logan et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs sought and obtained a judgment against Defendants estopping them from withholding approval of Plaintiffs' proposed residential subdivision plan.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court ordered that the subdivision be approved and that subsequent development within it be allowed free from any subsequent zoning changes limiting or restricting residential uses.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants seek to reverse the lower court's order estopping Defendants from disapproving Plaintiffs' proposed residential subdivision.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In or about June 1977, Plaintiffs approached the City of Logan in the course of preparing a preliminary plan for a residential subdivision to be located in an M-1(Manufacturing) zone. R.153. Single family dwellings were permitted uses in that zone at the time of the application, but the zoning ordinance was amended on January 31, 1978 to allow such uses only occasionally and incidental to manufacturing uses by special use permit. Whole residential subdivisions were prohibited. R.101. (Sec. 17-4-2(e), Logan City Ordinances.)

Shortly after initial contact with the City, in conversations with the Plaintiffs' engineer, the City Planner questioned the advisability of developing a residential subdivision plat in the area proposed. R.153. Plaintiffs, nevertheless, continued with their plans, prepared a preliminary subdivision plat, (R.155) expending \$890 for it and another \$1,335 for a boundary survey. R.128.

The Planning Commission's practice is to merely introduce the preliminary plat in one meeting (first reading)

and in the second meeting discuss its merits and take action. R.156. Plaintiffs' project was introduced on July 13, 1977. R.85-86. The second reading was held on August 10, 1977. Some concerns were expressed by the Planning Commission (R.90) and the matter was tabled and referred to the Municipal Council for their input. R.86. On August 18, 1977, the Municipal Council reviewed the matter and expressed some concerns about protecting the potential residential area from manufacturing uses within the development and that more roadways in and out of the subdivision be provided. R.92, 157.

The preliminary plan second reading continued before the Planning Commission on September 14, 1977 at which time concern about the danger of the adjacent railroad activity was expressed, and the matter was tabled for sixty days. R.94. Although the matter was not before them for approval, on October 12, 1977, the Planning Commission and Planner discussed the intent of the City's zoning ordinance as it relates to residential uses in M-1 zones. R.95. The intent of the ordinance was to allow citizens operating manufacturing concerns in the zone to construct homes incidental to the manufacturing use. R.95, 158. On November 9, 1977, the Planning Commission took action to disapprove Plaintiffs' preliminary plan based on the fact that: (1) Development

of residential subdivisions in M-1 zones was contrary to the land use ordinance. (2) Development of a residential subdivision in an M-1 zone is contrary to the City's master plan. (3) Accesses to the subdivision were inadequate. (4) The location of the railroad on three sides of the subdivision made it an inappropriate site for housing. R.96. Some of their reasons were further articulated in a letter to the Municipal Council dated November 17, 1977. R.97.

On November 17, the Plaintiffs appeared before the Municipal Council requesting that their preliminary plan be approved. The Municipal Council reviewed the Planning Commission's letter then refused to approve the proposed subdivision. R.99-100. No protective covenants were ever drawn up to eliminate manufacturing uses within the subdivision and no second exit from the subdivision was ever planned. R.155. It was never modified in any way but remained as originally presented.

Because the Municipal Council began preparations to amend or clarify the zoning ordinance on the matter of housing in M-1 zones, Plaintiffs commenced this action on December 23, 1977, on which date application for a restraining order was made which order was made on January 3, 1978 restraining the City from amending its zoning ordinance. R.14. On April 18, 1978, after motion by Defendants, the injunction was terminated. R.80-81. The City's change

or clarification of the zoning ordinance took place on January 19, 1978 (R.102) and became effective as it pertained to Plaintiffs' property on the date the injunction was terminated.

ARGUMENT

I

THE APPROVAL OF SUBDIVISION ACCESSES AND ROADWAYS INVOLVES A DEGREE OF DISCRETION THE EXERCISE OF WHICH WAS JUSTIFICATION FOR DISAPPROVAL OF PLAINTIFFS' PROPOSED SUBDIVISION.

In dealing with questions of whether a proposed residential subdivision plan should be approved, Defendants recognize and have no argument with the fact that the act of approval is administrative in nature, Martindale v. Anderson, et al., (Ut. 1978) 581 P.2d 1022, and largely ministerial, Eldorado at Santa Fe, Inc., v. Board of County Commissions of Santa Fe County, 39 N.M. 313, 551 P.2d 1360 (1976). However, many administrative actions involve some discretionary action. So it is with approval of subdivisions. Roussey v. City of Burlingame, et al. (Cal. 1950) 223 P.2d 517, Ayers v. City Council of City of Los Angeles (Cal. 1949) 207 P.2d 1. Take for example the act of opening a road to public use which is part of the action taken when a subdivision is approved.

In Town of Perry v. Thomas, et al., 82 Ut. 159, 22 P.2d 343 (1933), where a town decided to convert a private road

into a public street and to widen it at the same time, property owners and citizens in the area questioned the town's right to do so. There this court stated:

"Under powers thus delegated to municipal boards the necessity, expediency, or propriety of opening a public street or way is a political question, and in the absence of fraud, bad faith or abuse of discretion the action of such board will not be disturbed by the courts." (citing cases).
22 P.2d 343, 345.

The traffic flow, access, location and configuration of a new roadway has always been a legitimate concern for cities including proposed accesses resulting from a subdivision of land. Nicoli v. Planning and Zoning Commission of Town of Easton, 179 Conn. 89, 368 A.2d 24 (1976).

In Pearson Kent Corporation v. Bear, 28 N.Y.2d 396, 271 N.E.2d 218 (1971), the county planning commission denied approval of plaintiff's proposed residential subdivision even though the plan itself was not intrinsically unacceptable because the project was so located as to create danger to nearly residents in that roads through which the plaintiff would channel traffic were too narrow and unable to accommodate additional traffic, and the absence of sidewalks would increase hazards to young children going to school. In that circumstance the highest court for the State of New York said:

"But the commission is not limited in disapproving a subdivision, to an intrinsic evaluation of the

subdivision itself. It may consider, among other things, the "safety" and "general welfare" of the county, including adjacent areas. Thus, as a matter of legal power, the commission acted within its jurisdiction. And if it was within its jurisdiction it is not easy to say that its action was arbitrary and without reasonable basis."
271 N.E.2d 218, 219.

The following cases are further examples of the proper exercise of discretion in the approval or disapproval of subdivisions: Stoptaugh v. Bd. of County Commissioners of El Paso County, (Colo.) 543 P.2d 524; Barke & McCaffrey Inc., v. City of Merriam, (Kan. 1967) 424 P.2d 483; and Jones v. Town of Woodway, (Wash. 1967) 424 P.2d 904.

In this case presently before the Court, the planner, the planning commission, and the municipal council expressed concern about the single access proposed by Plaintiffs (R.92, 96, 97, 153, 157), and the suggestion was made that Plaintiffs provide another means of ingress and egress for the proposed subdivision. R.92, 157. That second means of ingress and egress was never provided and the subdivision plan remained as it was originally presented. R.155. Consider, as the Defendants did, what would be the result if a fire started in the subdivision, or a person was choking and the fire engine or ambulance and medical technicians had to wait an extra five minutes while the railroad people were notified that their stopped train or switching operations were blocking the subdivision access. Such a possibility

dictates a second access free of conflicts with the trains.

The subdivision ordinance itself provides for the exercise of the kind of judgment exercised here. Section 17-22-1, Revised Ordinances of Logan City, provides:

"Purpose. The following requirements controlling the subdivision of land are designed to provide for the orderly development of Logan City and to secure a coordinated road layout and adequate provision for traffic, transportation, recreation, water, drainage, sewage and other facilities in order to promote the health, safety, convenience and general welfare of the inhabitants of Logan City."

In essence, one of the reasons for denial of Plaintiffs' subdivision was that it did not make "adequate provision for traffic" necessary for the promotion of the "health, safety, convenience and general welfare of the inhabitants of Logan City," especially for the ones who would live in the subdivision.

II

DEFENDANTS PROPERLY DENIED APPROVAL OF PLAINTIFFS' PROPOSED SUBDIVISION BECAUSE THE PROPOSED SITE WAS NOT IN A LOCATION OR ENVIRONMENT SUITABLE FOR RESIDENTIAL HOUSING.

The subdivision ordinance provides:

17-22-6. General requirements and minimum standards of design.

(c) Lots.

(1) The lot arrangement and design shall be such that lots will provide satisfactory and desirable sites for buildings and be properly related to topography, to the character of surrounding development, and to existing and probable future requirements. P. 70.

The subdivision was planned in an area which would be surrounded by railroad tracks on three sides. R.97, 155. Only one means of ingress and egress was provided which would require that every man, woman and child would be required to cross the tracks to the east in order to exit or enter the development. R.97. The proposed development was in an M-1 zone and along side a railroad spur. Activity on the spur such as refrigerator cars would create a nighttime annoyance to the neighboring residents.

The possible conflicts with M-1 uses was brought to the attention of the developer (R.97, 97), and a request was made by Municipal Council Chairman Claude Burtenshaw, that protective covenants be written to at least protect the subdivision from within, but the record reveals that none were ever presented for approval prior to the time approval of the subdivision by the municipal council was demanded. The city planner reported that no protective covenants were ever filed with or presented to the City. R.154.

To approve a subdivision under the circumstances and in the location requested by Plaintiffs would most likely create an undesirable residential area with dissatisfied residents moving out and unwitting new owners moving in until knowledge of the problems became common knowledge, causing property values to fall and permanent families to stay away.

III

DEFENDANTS PROPERLY REJECTED PLAINTIFFS' PROPOSED SUBDIVISION BECAUSE IT DID NOT PROVIDE FOR WALKWAYS BETWEEN BLOCKS OVER 800 FEET LONG AS REQUIRED BY DEFENDANT'S SUBDIVISION ORDINANCE.

At the time Plaintiffs were urging approval of their subdivision most of the attention was centered on the controversy of whether the zoning ordinance authors intended to allow residential subdivisions in M-1 zones and whether the ordinance itself allowed it. Other matters were of course considered, but one matter received little attention. Section 17-22-6, Logan City Ordinances, states:

17-22-6. General requirements and minimum standards of design.

(d) Blocks.

1. The maximum length of blocks shall be not more than thirteen hundred (1300) feet. In blocks over eight hundred (800) feet long there shall be provided a dedicated walkway through the block at approximately the center of the block. Such walkway shall be not less than ten (10) feet wide. R.68.

Plaintiffs never complied with this ordinance at any time. The subdivision plat itself illustrates this (R.155) as does the affidavit of Mark Brenchley, City Planner. R.154.

IV

THE PROPOSED SUBDIVISION IS CONTRARY TO THE INTENT AND SPIRIT OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE.

In the above three arguments, Defendants have attempted to show the deficiencies in Plaintiffs' proposal as it relates to the City's subdivision ordinance. In addition the subdivision and its proposed site is contrary to the

intent of the zoning ordinance itself. It is true that "single family dwellings" were permitted uses in the M-1 zone on the date Plaintiffs submitted their application, but nowhere does the zoning ordinance refer to whole residential subdivisions. The planning commission, the municipal council and the planner were all under the impression that the zoning ordinance would be frustrated if such a development were allowed. R.95, 96, 97, 100, 154. The ordinance had always been construed by the planner as only allowing occasional residential use incidental to manufacturing uses. R.154. That is the way the ordinance now stands as amended (to clarify) in January 1978. R.101-102.

V

THE PROPOSED SUBDIVISION CONFLICTS WITH LOGAN CITY'S MASTER PLAN.

When approving subdivisions the municipality must look not only to the requirements of the subdivision ordinance but also to the zoning law and then finally to the city's master plan for guidance. In Wes Linn Land Co. v. Board of County Commissioners, 36 Ore.App. 39, 583, P.2d 1159 (1978) the county denied approval of the subdivision and the developer appealed to the Court of Appeals. The principal issue there was whether the county's findings were adequate. The court said they were not and remanded the case. During the course of rendering the decision, the court referred

to the various considerations:

"A subdivision application which conforms to a zoning ordinance may nevertheless be denied if the application of the zoning ordinance is inconsistent with the comprehensive plan or with statewide goals, or if the application fails to conform to the subdivision ordinance, but the order must express the reasons the use permitted by the zoning ordinance is not allowed. Here, the application for residential development within a residential zone was denied in part, for example, because it was not agricultural, but there was no explicit application of any plan provision or goal which would override the zoning ordinance." 583 P.2d 1159, 1161.

The same court in another case referred to the considerations of subdivision ordinance, zoning law, and master plan as having a hierarchical relationship:

"There is a recognized hierarchical relationship between the comprehensive plan, zoning laws and subdivision ordinances. At the bottom of the hierarchy is the decision to approve or disapprove a tentative subdivision plan. In approving a subdivision, the decision-making body must first ascertain whether it is in compliance with the zoning ordinance. Bienz v. City of Dayton, 29 Or. App. 761, 566 P.2d 904, rev. den. (1977). Next it must determine that the zoning ordinance is in compliance with the comprehensive plan. Baker v. City of Milwaukie, *supra*. The plan has been likened to a constitution implemented by zoning and subdivision ordinances. Baker v. City of Milwaukie, *supra*, 271 Or. at 507, 533 P.2d 722." 1000 Friends of Oregon v. Board of County Commissioners, 32 Ore. App. 413, 575 P.2d 651, 656 (1978).

The master plan contemplated no substantial residential development in the M-1 zone. That was one of the reasons the planning commission rejected the proposed subdivision. R.86, 96, 97. If Plaintiffs would have done their homework with regard to the expectations of the master plan, perhaps

they would have recognized that residential subdivisions were not to be developed in the M-1 zone.

Section 17-22-4(a) of Logan City Ordinances states:

17-22-4. Preliminary plan.

(a) Each subdivider of land should confer with the Planning Commission before preparing the preliminary plan in order to become thoroughly familiar with subdivision requirements and with proposals of the official comprehensive plan affecting the area in which the proposed subdivision lies. (Emphasis added.) R.66.

Thus, the ordinance imposes a duty upon the developer to know or to find out about the expectations of the master plan.

VI

THE DISAPPROVAL OF A SUBDIVISION ON SEVERAL GROUNDS ONLY ONE OF WHICH MAY BE VALID IS SUFFICIENT JUSTIFICATION FOR DISAPPROVAL.

The Plaintiffs' proposed subdivision was formally disapproved by the planning commission on the following grounds:

1. It was against the "intent of the Logan City Land Use (Zoning) Ordinance. R.87, 97, 157-158.
2. It was contrary to the intent of the Logan City Master Plan. R.87, 97, 154, 157-158.
3. It provided only one means of ingress and egress causing potential hazards. R.86, 87, 97.
4. Railroad activity on three sides of the subdivision was a danger to those who would be living there. R.86, 87, 97.

The Stipulated Statement of Facts states that the above reasons for rejection are only some of the reasons. R.87,

paragraph 16. One other reason, had they given the plan's details careful consideration, was the absence of the pedestrian walkway mentioned in Argument V above which was brought to the trial court's attention in the motions which it ruled upon.

The stated reasons the municipal council gave for rejecting the preliminary plan were:

1. No protective covenants were provided to protect against M-1 uses within the subdivision. R.157, paragraph 2.
2. There was only one means of ingress and egress and that was across a railroad track. R.157, paragraph 2.
3. To allow a residential subdivision in an M-1 zone would be to violate the spirit and intent of the zoning ordinance. R.157-158.
4. The location of a residential subdivision in an M-1 zone runs contrary to the City's master plan. R.157-158.
5. The subdivision would be surrounded by a railroad on three sides. R.86.

An unstated reason for rejecting the preliminary subdivision plan which was not articulated by the municipal council until later was that it did not provide for pedestrian walkways through blocks of over 800 feet long. This matter was brought to the attention of trial court, but the court apparently considered the matter unimportant.

If any of the above reasons are sufficient for proper denial of Plaintiffs' proposed subdivision, then this Court

should hold the Defendants' denial to be justified and reverse the trial court. Davian v. Planning Commission of City of Putnam, 174 Conn. 384, 387 A.2d 562 (1978).

VII

THE MERE APPLICATION FOR A SUBDIVISION OR THE APPROVAL OF THE SAME BY A CITY, WITHOUT MORE, DOES NOT CREATE VESTED RIGHTS IN THE SUBDIVISION OWNER WHICH FOREVER FREE HIM FROM SUBSEQUENT ZONING CHANGES.

Plaintiffs and the trial court avoided the application of the subsequently adopted zoning amendments to Plaintiffs' planned subdivision by relying on Contracts Funding & Mortgage Exchange v. Maynes, (Ut. 1974) 527 P.2d 1073. In that case plaintiff purchased property which was then unzoned. Thereafter, he requested the county planning commission to grant him a conditional use permit for construction of mobile homes, which it did. Then about three weeks later after it had sought the opinions of neighbors in a hearing, it denied plaintiff's request for a building permit. About four months later, plaintiff renewed its request for a building permit. Two days after that the county amended its zoning ordinance to exclude the construction of mobile homes in that area, and at the same time denied plaintiff's request for a building permit. That case differs from this one in the following respects:

1. In Contracts the zoning law clearly permitted the use requested, but in this case the zoning law said nothing about construction of subdivisions in M-1 zones and the city had always construed the ordinances to prohibit such development. R.154.

2. In Contracts, plaintiff had done everything prerequisite to issuance of a building permit, then made a request for the same. In this case Plaintiffs had not done everything necessary and prerequisite to the issuance of a building permit. They had only applied for preliminary approval of a subdivision plan.
3. In Contracts, the only reason for denial of plaintiff's building permit request was that local residents opposed the construction. No Other reason was given:

"There is nothing in this record to indicate that the county or anyone else denied the application for a permit because of failure to file something, pay something, do something or violate something." 527 P.2d 1073, 1074.

Reasons for refusing to approve Plaintiffs' plan for a subdivision are listed and explained above, but essentially they are:

- A. Subdivisions in M-1 zones violate the intent of the zoning ordinance.
- B. Subdivisions in M-1 zones violate the intent of the master plan.
- C. The subdivision provides inadequate access (one access over railroad tracks).
- D. The subdivision provides for no walkways in blocks longer than 800 feet.
- E. The subdivision is in an improper location for residential living because it is bounded by railroad tracks on three sides.
- F. No protective covenants for excluding manufacturing uses within the subdivision have ever been presented, received or reviewed.

Again, this Court reiterated the principal problem in

Contracts:

"--there is nothing in this record to show that plaintiff was asked for maps, data, evidence, or anything else,--since it was never given any conditions with which it must have and may have complied,--only nothing but an arbitrary turn-down." 527 P.2d 1073, 1074.

One can hardly say the Defendants gave Plaintiffs "nothing but an arbitrary turn-down." In addition to the technical requirements for subdivisions and residential building, may the approving agency consider the broader policies and goals to be achieved by a municipality in an attempt to organize itself and to promote the health and welfare of its citizens? Certainly, the Plaintiffs have exhibited little interest in such matters. The City has done its best to anticipate and avoid the problems and serious dangers which most certainly will befall the proposed development and the people who may live in it. If this Court does not reverse, both it and the developer can assume responsibility for what happens there, because if the District Court's decision is upheld there is no regulation regarding zoning or subdivisions which the City can adopt at any time in the near or distant future, no matter how critical or important it might be, which the Plaintiffs in this case cannot ignore. As they argue, their rights are "vested" and nothing can change that.

The Utah case which comes closest to articulating the accepted principles found in the concepts of non-conforming

uses and vested rights is Wood v. North Salt Lake, 15 Ut.2d 245, 390 P.2d 858 (1964).

In Wood the plaintiff again was at the building permit stage when he ran into problems. His predecessors had subdivided and platted the property in 1955 which was accepted and dedicated by the City of North Salt Lake at approximately the same time. The zoning ordinance in question was enacted in 1957. In 1963 the plaintiffs were ready to construct homes and applied for a building permit. The city refused to grant it because the lots had only 6,000 square feet (as originally platted) instead of 7,000 as required by the 1957 ordinance. Prior to applying for the building permit, water mains and sewer mains had been installed in the streets. Both systems provided connection facilities in front of each lot for which plaintiff's predecessors had paid their fair share. One of the lots was owned by a single owner who had no way of getting the extra square footage required by the city before he could build. Under these circumstances, the court said:

"Without canvassing fine distinctions, we simply conclude that enforcement of the ordinance, subject of this action, eminently would be unfair, inequitable, discriminatory and inconsonant with realistic concepts of affirmative and privileged use of one's property. Enforcing this ordinance would render a 60' lot, owned by one individual, utterly useless and no doubt a weed-infested liability, although the purchaser presumably was put to the expense mentioned above--"
390 P.2d 858, 859.

Because plaintiff would be unreasonably damaged by imposition of the new regulation and because the city made no effort to assert any police powers through appropriate procedures, the court relieved the owners of the 7,000 square foot lot requirement. This court did, however, recognize:

"In reasoning as we do, we are not unmindful of the authorities that sanction zoning ordinances where persons are not unreasonably damaged thereby, but at the same time we are alert to and mindful of the authorities that strike down such ordinances where resulting damage is substantial, as we think is true in the case of a one-unit owner in the platted area here--and we cannot lay down a rule for him, but not one for him in the area who happens to have two adjoining lots. We say this under the particular facts of this case, none other." 390 P.2d 858, 859.

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