1979

Western Land Equities, Inc. et al v. City of Logan et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs sought and obtained a judgment against Defendants wherein the court determined that the defendants were estopped from withholding approval of plaintiffs' proposed residential subdivision plan and found, as a matter of law, that plaintiffs had a vested right to proceed with their proposed residential subdivision.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The parties filed a Statement of Stipulated Facts and a Statement of Stipulated Issues with the district court. Thereafter, plaintiffs moved for summary judgment requesting the district court to declare that plaintiffs had a vested right to develop a subdivision consisting of single-family dwelling units and to further declare that defendants were estopped from prohibiting plaintiffs' development of their property.

The district court ordered plaintiffs' subdivision to be approved on the grounds that the defendants were estopped from refusing to approve the subdivision and that plaintiffs had a vested right to develop the subdivision subject only to plaintiffs' compliance with the reasonable requirements of the Logan City Ordinances.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs-respondents seek to affirm the lower court's order which estopped defendants from disapproving plaintiffs' proposed residential subdivision and granted plaintiffs a vested right to develop the proposed residential subdivision.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In February, 1969, plaintiffs purchased 18.53 acres of land located within the boundaries of the City of Logan between Third and Sixth North and Sixth and Eighth West with

the intent to develop the property for uses including the development of single-family dwelling units for families seeking residential housing in a moderate price range. In connection with the purchase and development of said property, the plaintiffs expended substantial time and effort in conducting marketing studies in order to determine the highest, and best use for the property. The plaintiffs determined that there was a need for moderate-priced housing in the City of Logan and that this would be the highest and best use in connection with the development of the property.

LeGrande Reeder, one of the plaintiffs, and principal owner and President of plaintiff, Western Land Equities, Inc., had several conversations with members of the Logan City Municipal Council and the City Planner, Mark Brenchley, regarding the development of the property. Reeder informed those officials of his intent to develop the property for single-family dwelling residential uses and was encouraged by the City Planner and members of the Municipal Council to develop the property for such a use.

Prior to April, 1976, the area in which plaintiffs were to develop their property permitted the development of single-family dwelling homes. In April, 1976, the City of Logan adopted a land-use ordinance (Logan City Ordinances, §17-1-1, et seq.) under which the plaintiffs' above-described

property was designated in an M-1 zone, known as a light industry district. Among the permitted uses of property within the M-1 district, until January 31, 1978, was "dwelling, one family detached" which term is used by the City of Logan to designate subdivisions consisting of single-family residential units.

The City of Logan has also adopted an ordinance entitled Subdivision Rules and Recommendations, Logan City Ordinances, §17-22-1, et seq., which sets forth the procedures whereby single-family residential subdivisions are to be approved by the City of Logan. That procedure is as follows:

1. Consultation with the Logan City Planning Commission;
2. Preparation and submittal of three copies of a preliminary plan of the subdivision with the Logan City Planning Commission. The Plan is to comply with the minimum requirements set forth in the subdivision ordinance;
3. The applicant is to obtain the Logan City Planning Commission's approval of a preliminary plan. If the preliminary plan is disapproved, reasons for disapproval shall be transmitted to the applicant.
4. If the Planning Commission approves the preliminary plan, the applicant is to prepare final plans and specifications including the minimum improvements required by Section 17-22-7 and submit the plans and specifications to the Logan City Planning Commission for final approval.

5. The final plan is either approved or disapproved by the Logan City Planning Commission.

Pursuant to the 1976 Ordinance requirements, in March, 1977, plaintiffs undertook to comply with the Logan City Subdivision Ordinance and to do whatever was necessary for the development of single-family dwelling units upon the property in question. During that same month, plaintiffs consulted with Mike Lund of Mountain West Design and contracted with him to prepare a preliminary subdivision plan and present the plan to the Logan City Planning Commission and the Logan City Municipal Council for their approval.

Thereafter, plaintiff, LeGrande Reeder, and his engineer, Mike Lund, consulted with the Logan City Engineering and Planning Department regarding the proposed subdivision and informed the officials of each department of plaintiffs' intention to develop the property in question. After these consultations, plaintiffs directed their engineer to prepare a preliminary plan consisting of an 89-lot subdivision to be known as the Willow Creek Subdivision. This plan was prepared by plaintiffs' engineer, Mike Lund, and submitted to the Logan City Planning Commission on July 18, 1977. The preliminary plan was unanimously accepted and placed on the agenda for a second reading before the Planning Commission.

On August 10, 1977, Mike Lund appeared before the Logan City Planning Commission for the second reading and approval of the Willow Creek Subdivision Preliminary Plan.

Consideration of the Preliminary Plan was tabled and plaintiffs were asked to approach the Logan City Municipal Council to consider the question of whether residential housing should be permitted in a district designated "M-1."

On August 18, 1977, plaintiffs' engineer presented the Willow Creek Subdivision Preliminary Plan to the Logan City Municipal Council for approval. The Council referred the matter back to the Logan City Planning Commission with the recommendation that protective covenants be written and that more roadways into and out of the subdivision be investigated. Plaintiffs' engineer again appeared before the Logan City Planning Commission on September 14, 1977, at which time the Commission tabled the matter for a period of 60 days.

On October 12, 1977. the Logan City Planning Commission, again met and at this meeting, the Planning Commission, for the first time, went on record as opposing subdivisions in "M-1" zones.

On November 9, 1977, the Logan City Planning Commission rejected plaintiffs' proposed Willow Creek Subdivision, stating the following grounds:

1. The Willow Creek Subdivision was against the the "intent" of the Logan City Land Use Ordinance and the master plan; and
2. The Willow Creek Subdivision Plan provided for only one ingress and egress, and

3. The Willow Creek Subdivision Plan was surrounded by railroads on three sides.

The foregoing are the only reasons which the Logan City Planning Commission cited to plaintiffs in connection with their rejection of plaintiffs' subdivision.

The plaintiffs appealed the decision of the Logan City Planning Commission to the Logan City Municipal Council. Plaintiffs' appeal was rejected at a meeting of the council on November 17, 1977.

Plaintiffs filed a complaint in the First Judicial District Court of Cache County, State of Utah, on December 23, 1977. Thereafter, on January 31, 1978, Logan City amended its land-use ordinance so as to specifically restrict the development of single-family dwelling units in an "M-1" district except by special permit. The parties submitted a stipulated statement of facts and a stipulated statement of issues to the court in connection with plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment requesting the court to determine, as a matter of law, that plaintiffs had a vested right to develop their subdivision consisting of single-family dwelling homes and that defendants, as a matter of law, were estopped from denying approval of plaintiffs' subdivision. The stipulated statement of issues submitted to the court are set forth below as follows:

Counsel for the parties submit the following stipulated issues of law for the court's determination:

1. Did the M-1 land-use description as set forth in the Logan City Land-Use Ordinance of 1976, prior to the January 31, 1978 amendment, permit the development of subdivisions consisting of single-family dwelling units on property zoned M-1?

2. Does the amendment to the M-1 land-use description of the Logan City Land-Use Ordinance of 1976, which was adopted January 31, 1978 and which prohibits the development of single-family units in the M-1 zone except by special use permit, give defendants the authority to deny approval of plaintiffs' Willow Creek Subdivision which was submitted prior to the amendment and appears to be proper in all other respects other than those items set forth in paragraph 9 of the stipulated statement of facts?

Paragraph 9 of the stipulated statement of facts submitted to the court is set forth as follows:

It has not been contended by defendants that this preliminary plan did not comply in all particulars with the minimum requirements of the Logan City Subdivision Ordinance with the exception that Logan City has raised questions concerning ingress and egress in and out of the subdivision, the fact that the subdivision is surrounded on three sides by railroad tracks and the need to establish protective covenants restraining manufacturing uses within the subdivision. It is not intended by the parties that the provisions herein shall be binding upon them with respect to the subdivision's compliance with minimum requirements. . . . (Emphasis added).

Both of the Stipulated Issues of Law submitted by the parties to the district court for its determination involve the doctrines of vested rights and equitable estoppel. The appellants have raised other issues in their brief relating to alleged technical items of non-compliance with the zoning ordinance by the plaintiffs, such as the lack of a walkway. However, the district court found, as a matter of fact, that the plaintiffs had complied with or indicated that they would comply with each reasonable requirement established by the defendants. The court also found, as a matter of fact, that the City Planner and municipal council members encouraged the development. As clearly evidenced by the defendants' action in going on record opposing subdivisions in the M-1 zone and in so amending the ordinance, the only real objection to plaintiffs' proposed subdivision was that the defendants decided that they did not want a residential subdivision in the M-1 zone, even though the use was permitted under the zoning ordinance. This was the issue first submitted to the court below by stipulation of the parties. The second issue goes to whether a local zoning authority may, with retroactive application, amend or change its zoning laws. These are the only issues which were before the court below, and the appellants cannot at this time raise other issues.

The Court granted plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and in so doing, entered the following Conclusions of Law:

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The M-1 land-use description as set forth in the Logan City Land-Use Ordinance of 1976 did permit the development of subdivisions consisting of detached single-family dwelling units on properties zoned M-1 prior to January 31, 1978.
2. Plaintiffs have substantially complied with the procedural requirements of the Logan City Ordinance, §17-22-1, with respect to seeking approval of their preliminary subdivision plan prior to filing this action.
3. Plaintiffs have a vested right to develop a subdivision consisting of detached single-family dwelling units upon the subject property in accordance with the reasonable requirements set forth in the Logan City ordinances.
4. Defendants are estopped from denying plaintiffs' preliminary subdivision on the grounds that it is situated in an M-1 use zone.

Pursuant to the court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the court entered a judgment for the plaintiffs and against the defendants granting plaintiffs the right to develop the subdivision consisting of detached single-family dwelling homes and directed that the plaintiffs develop their subdivision in a manner consistent with the reasonable requirements of the Logan City ordinances relating to subdivision development.

ARGUMENT ONE

PLAINTIFFS HAVE A VESTED RIGHT TO CONSTRUCT THE WILLOW CREEK SUBDIVISION